THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals
No. 2012-212062

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2010-CP-40-5460

Trumaine V. Moorer,

Respondent,

v.

Norfolk Southern Railway Company,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Paul F. Tecklenburg, Esquire
Rivers T. Jenkins, III, Esquire
P.O. Box 20667
Charleston, SC 29413
(843) 534-2628
Attorneys for Appellant

John A. Moss, Esquire
3575 Piedmont Road, NE, Ste. 1560
Atlanta, GA 30305
(404) 264-1292

John E. Parker, Esquire
P.O. Box 457
Hampton, SC 29924
(803) 943-2111
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED

JUL 08 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant Norfolk Southern's motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on the Negligent Assignment cause of action (Count II), where there is no duty under the Federal Employers Liability Act requiring a railroad to manage an employee's medical treatment or rehabilitation, nor to call into question an unrestricted medical clearance or accommodate work limitations not imposed by the employee's treating physician, and where the Respondent's liability expert gave unreliable testimony contrary to established law and not more than a scintilla of evidence was presented to establish any such duty was breached?
2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant Norfolk Southern's motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the Prompt Aid cause of action (Count III), where Respondent failed to present more than a scintilla of evidence supporting his claim that Appellant Norfolk Southern was chargeable with notice of an emergency and additionally failed to present evidence of a causal connection between any delay and alleged additional injury or damage?
3. Whether the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict as to Respondent's claim for future wage loss damages where no evidence was presented at trial demonstrating that Respondent's condition continues or could not be overcome?
4. Whether the trial court erred in admitting into evidence Dr. Lina's August 2, 2007 disqualification letter and subsequently compounded the error by denying Dr. Lina the opportunity to explain the opinions expressed therein?
5. Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury to determine the extent of Appellant Norfolk Southern's duty to provide its employees with a reasonably safe workplace, as well as in refusing to charge the jury regarding the effect safety rules violations may have on the Respondent's contributory negligence, to refusing to charge the jury on limitations within the Appellant's duties to monitor an employee's medical condition, provide vocational rehabilitation services, and render aid, while also failing to limit prejudicial testimony in reference to Respondent's handicapped son whose condition was not germane to the matters at issue at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of events that occurred on and before May 31, 2007. Trumaine Moorer ("Respondent"), an employee of Norfolk Southern Railway Company ("Appellant" or "Norfolk Southern"), filed his Complaint on January 7, 2009 (R. p. 8), claiming liability pursuant to 45 U.S.C. § 51, the Federal Employers' Liability Act ("FELA"), based on a May 31 incident involving Respondent's dehydration, muscle cramping, hospitalization and diagnosis of rhabdomyolysis (R. pp. 6-11).

Respondent filed litigation in the Orangeburg County Court of Common Pleas, initially alleging three causes of action. The first was based on a May 9, 2007 incident (the "First Incident"), a claim eventually withdrawn by Respondent. (See July 12, 2010 Order by Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, R. p. 1). Respondent alleged in his Second Cause of Action for negligent assignment that Appellant knew Respondent was susceptible to heat related injury, Respondent was exposed to heat, subsequently triggering another such incident on May 31, 2007 (the "Second Incident"; R. pp. 9-10). Respondent alleged that Appellant did not take steps to provide additional manpower or a way to cool Respondent's body temperature, and failed to provide a reasonably safe place to work. Respondent's Third Cause of Action for failure to render prompt aid alleged that as the Second Incident occurred, Norfolk Southern's management personnel were aware of Respondent's condition, but failed to send emergency personnel to Orangeburg or stop the engine as it returned to Columbia, and thereby aggravated Respondent's injuries. Plaintiff sought damages incurred due to lost wages, medical expenses, pain and suffering, additional future medical expense, future loss of earnings and benefits (R. p.

10-11). Appellant generally denied these allegations and asserted affirmative defenses (R. p. 13-19).

Respondent moved to transfer the case from Orangeburg County to Richland County, a motion that was granted in Hon. Edgar Dickson's Order Transferring Venue, filed July 20, 2010. The case was tried before a jury in Richland County September 19 through September 23, 2011, with Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin presiding. The jury did not reach a verdict, and a mistrial was declared. (See Order, October 4, 2011 by Judge Benjamin, R. p. 2).

The case was tried for a second time in Richland County March 5 through March 9, 2012, again before Judge Benjamin. Immediately before picking the jury, the trial court denied Respondent's Motion to Transfer Venue based on the convenience of witnesses. At the close of Respondent's case, Appellant timely moved for directed verdict on all pending causes of action, based on liability, causation, and damages. (R. p. 622, line 22 – p. 631, line 11). Judge Benjamin denied Appellant's motion, and submitted the case to the jury (R. p. 631, line 12 - p. 632, line 18). The motion for directed verdict was renewed at the close of Appellant's case. (R. p. 1200, lines 15–22). The jury returned a verdict for the Respondent, finding \$1,100,000 damages, but assigned 40% or comparative negligence to the Respondent and 60% to the Appellant (R. p. 3). The trial court granted a ten-day extension of time for Appellant to file JNOV and New Trial motions (R. p. 1299, lines 19–23), which were timely filed. (See Defendant's Motion for JNOV and Alternative Motion for New Trial, filed March 19, 2012, R. p. 1957). The trial court confirmed the verdict in a Form 4 Order filed March 19, 2012 (R. p. 3). The trial court denied Appellant's Motion for JNOV or New Trial with a Form 4

Order, filed March 29, 2012 (R. p. 4). Appellant filed its Motion to Amend Judgment on April 4, 2012 (R. p. 1975), which was granted in the trial court's Order dated May 9, 2012 (R. p. 5). Appellant timely served its Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2012 (R. p. 20).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent was 33 years old and a conductor for Norfolk Southern. A conductor works outside, doing a job that requires walking, setting hand brakes (a job made easier with a tool called a "brake stick"), tying air hoses, writing down car numbers and other paperwork. (R. p. 102, lines 2–16; p. 105, lines 12–22; p. 108, line 17 – p. 109, line 3; and p. 109, line 14 – p. 110, line 13). According to Michael McClanahan, who testified as Respondent's vocational expert, the typical tasks of a conductor are generally considered "light" as defined by the US Department of Labor; the only heavy task involve lifting a "knuckle." (R. p. 318, line 11 – p. 319, line 21). There is no evidence Respondent was involved in lifting knuckles in the days or hours prior to the First or Second Incidents.

After receiving extensive training in McDonough, Georgia during 2006, Respondent was given on-the-job training, working all jobs in Norfolk Southern's Charleston District, including the Train P28. (R. p. 214, line 11 – p. 215, line 5). Respondent was no stranger to the P28 Train, having previously worked on it for a full week in 2006 (R. p. 643, line 15 – p. 644, line 19), performing well, and appearing to absorb the training well according to his score sheets at the time. (R. p. 645, lines 6–14). New conductors are also are afforded the opportunity to take refresher training on

particular routes and jobs. (R. p. 647, line 18 – p. 648, line 8). Respondent completed his training on January 11, 2007, and was eligible based on his union seniority to “mark up” for an assigned or “extra board” job in the Charleston District. (R. p. 129, line 7 – p. 132, line 5; and p. 649, line 3 - P. 650, line 6). Respondent worked the P28 Train on March 13, 2007, prior to the First Incident. (R. p. 748, lines 5–24; and D. Ex. 3, R. p. 1367, 1374). Train P28 originates and terminates in Columbia, South Carolina, and serviced an average of just over four industries per day in or near Orangeburg, South Carolina in the five months prior to the Second Incident. (R. p. 718, line 13 – p. 719, line 21; and D. Ex 29, R. p. 1436, 1441). The typical crew assigned to Train P 28 includes one engineer and one conductor, and it was staffed in the same manner for over six of the seven years prior to Respondent’s incidents. (R. p. 653, line 10 – p. 657, line 1; and D. Ex. 81, R. p. 1593).

On May 8, 2007, Respondent reported to work on Appellant’s Train P28 and returned to his home in St. George, South Carolina, late in the evening. Respondent had cramps in his hands before leaving work on May 8, 2007 and “shook them off” without telling his co-workers or supervisors at that time. He did not remember eating meals during the day. (R. p. 225, lines 1–15; and p. 164, lines 10–17). Respondent’s wife testified he had muscle cramping and sweated profusely the evening of May 8, 2007, and the early morning of May 9, 2007. (R. p. 609, line 22 – p. 620, line 16). In spite of the symptoms, Respondent elected to travel back to Columbia on May 9, 2007, arriving at 10:25 a.m. He did not report the muscle cramping and profuse sweating he experienced the night before to his co-workers or supervisors. (R. p. 77, lines 19–25). As he worked, the Respondent put on his rain gear (not supplied by Appellant), some of which he wore as he began feeling sick, whereupon he sat on the ground (R. p. 165, line 24 – p. 166, line

10; and p. 228, lines 5–13) and EMS personnel were called to the scene. (R. p. 166, line 24 – p. 167, line 8).

At the hospital, the Respondent, for the first time, told Norfolk Southern employees he had been sick the night before May 9, 2007, with the same symptoms, and his injury was not job related, which was later reduced to a written statement. (R. p. 169, lines 5–13; p. 231, lines 12–22; p. 701, line 15 – p. 703, line 1; and P. Ex. 2, R. p. 1310). Respondent confirmed no one at Norfolk Southern asked him to lie about the origin of his illness, and he voluntarily and unilaterally decided to give the statement. (R. p. 169, lines 5–13; p. 231, lines 12–22; p. 701, line 15 – p. 703, line 1; and P. Ex. 2, R. p. 1310). This account was consistent with what he told his supervisor, Trainmaster William Deshazor, whose conversation with Respondent was reflected in a Norfolk Southern report indicating lack of proper nutrition prior to the First Incident. (R. p. 701, line 15 – p. 703, line 1; and D. Ex. 11, R. p. 1390).

After discharge from the hospital for what appeared to be dehydration, the Respondent then followed up with his existing primary care physician, Dr. James H. Dantzler on May 17, 2007. (R. p. 483, line 8 – p. 484, line 9). Respondent saw Dr. Dantzler for clearance to return to work, which Dr. Dantzler provided to him. (R. p. 488, line 24 – p. 489, line 15). Dr. Dantzler gave the Respondent a note allowing him to return to work with no restrictions. (R. p. 490, line 6 – p. 491, line 7; and D. Ex. 66, R. p. 1522). Respondent's liability expert, Douglas Casa, testified well after the fact that Dr. Dantzler should have placed restrictions on the Respondent, and also should have required him to work either limited hours and/or be acclimatized back to the work setting. (R. p. 433, line 18 – p. 436, line 14).

Respondent met with his supervisor to provide the return-to-work note, and requested a work assignment as soon as possible. (R. p. 704, line 9 – p. 707, line 25). The return-to-work release was reviewed by Vickie Carroll-White, a registered nurse with Appellant's medical department, and she requested additional medical records from the Respondent, which she received on May 25, 2007. (R. p. 1174, line 18 – p. 1179, line 13; and D. Ex. 69, R. p. 1568). Based upon the records, representations about Dr. Dantzler's records from the Respondent (R. p. 1179, line 14 – p. 1181, line 25), and the unrestricted return to work note from Dr. Dantzler, Nurse White concluded it was appropriate for Moorer to return to his duties if he desired to do so.¹ (R. p. 1182, line 17 – p. 1184, line 5; and p. 1184, line 12 – p. 1185, line 9).

After the First Incident, the Respondent felt ready to return to work, which he did on May 30, 2007. (R. p. 168, lines 13–20; and p. 233, lines 6–17). He did so without objection from his wife, who thought doing so was a matter of common sense. (R. p. 610, Lines 20–23; and p. 617, lines 2–24). Even though Respondent had previously requested from a supervisor and received an extra man to enhance his prior training (i.e., a brakeman) months prior on a different work assignment (R. p. 220, line 25 – p. 221, line 7), Respondent made no such request on May 9, May 30 or May 31, 2007. (R. p. 227,

¹ Eventually *after* the Second Incident on May 31, 2007, Nurse Carroll-White received more specific notes from Dr. Dantzler indicating that, upon Respondent's release on May 17, 2007, Dr. Dantzler noted that Respondent should consume water and take breaks, in addition to avoiding alcohol and caffeine. The *Safety and General Conduct Rules* of Norfolk Southern encourage the consumption of water and the performance of work at the employee's own pace (R. p. 1362). Nurse White states Dr. Dantzler's recommendation of consuming water and taking breaks was consistent with Norfolk Southern's existing work practices, and therefore would not change her decision to allow Moorer's return to work after the First Incident. (R. p. 1186, line 6 – p. 1191, line 17).

lines 2-4; p. 698, lines 2-15; and p. 749, lines 2-7). Respondent finished his work on the P28 Train on May 30, 2007, apparently without incident and under relatively light work conditions. Engineer Tommy Connelly testified that as far as the number of cars pulled from and placed with customers that day, it was a "fantastic day." (R. p. 768, line 2 – p. 770, line 1).

The next day, May 31, 2007, again working on the P28 Train, Respondent called Mr. Deshazor at 2:26 p.m. and stated that he was not feeling well, but Respondent did not express any urgency or give any indication he needed immediate medical attention. (R. p. 710, line 11 – p. 712, line 4). Mr. Deshazor would have done what was necessary to arrange medical assistance, but he relied on Respondent's request simply to return to Columbia on the train. (R. p. 710, line 11 – p. 712, line 4). No testimony was presented at trial as to what "illness" the Respondent described during this conversation. Respondent said that he was going to put the train back together then ride back to Columbia. By his own admission, Respondent does not fault Appellant's employees for his decision to return to Columbia at 2:26 p.m. (R. p. 171, line 10 – p. 172, line 18; and p. 234, line 9 – p. 235, line 4). After the call from Respondent, Trainmaster Deshazor called his supervisor, Superintendent David Stinson, telling him that Respondent was not feeling well and informing Stinson that the P28 would be returning directly to Columbia. (R. p. 713, lines 3-13).

A track authority² was received on the P28 Train at 2:28 p.m. to proceed from SC 76 in Rowesville to SC 104 near Columbia. (R. p. 749, line 8 – p. 751, line 9). Engineer Connelly called Trainmaster Deshazor at 2:58 p.m. to inform him the Respondent was feeling worse. (R. p. 714, line 9 – p. 715, line 19; and p. 738, lines 11–23). Again, no testimony was presented that there was any communication of the type of “illness” Respondent had or to define “worse”. (R. p. 714, line 9 – p. 715, line 19; and p. 738, lines 11–23). Trainmaster Deshazor specifically asked Engineer Connelly if it was necessary to remove Respondent from the train and Mr. Connelly declined, saying that they were heading to Columbia. (R. p. 740, line 25 – p. 741, line 16). Superintendent Stinson recalled that Trainmaster Deshazor requested him to meet the train when it arrived back in Columbia. Mr. Stinson agreed, and asked if it was an emergency. He learned there had only been a request for someone to meet the train back at the Andrews Yard office (in Columbia) because Respondent was not feeling well. (R. p. 832, line 6 – p. 833, line 6).

Engineer Connelly called Superintendent Stinson at 3:21 p.m., and Mr. Stinson asked him if the train needed to be stopped, but Mr. Connelly told him the train would get to Andrews Yard shortly running at a track speed of 49 mph. (R. p. 774, line 11 – p. 777, line 22). As with Trainmaster Deshazor during his telephone call with Superintendent Stinson, Engineer Connelly did not request emergency personnel and did not describe any particular illness. (R. p. 834, line 21 – p. 835, line 15; and p. 835, line 25 – p. 836, line 17). An emergency call to 9-1-1 was made at 3:56 p.m. (See D. Ex. 72, R. p. 1580) after the train arrived at Andrews Yard, where Mr. Stinson awaited its arrival. (R. p. 176,

² "Track authority" or a "track warrant" is permission (from a dispatcher) for a train to occupy a certain section of mainline track. (R. p. 762, lines 17–22).

line 2 – p. 177, line 22). The fire department arrived at Andrews Yard at 4:02 p.m., followed by the EMS. (R. p. 123, line 12 – p. 124, line 13). Respondent went to Palmetto Health Baptist Hospital where he was diagnosed with rhabdomyolysis. (D. Ex. 73, R. p. 1582). The hospital follow-up note indicates that it was “unusual” to have two episodes of rhabdomyolysis in such a short time period. (D. Ex. 75, R. p. 1585).

Many weeks after the Second Incident, Dr. Paula Lina of the Appellant’s medical department became aware of the Second Incident and she reviewed the medical records from both Respondent’s First and Second Incidents. (R. p. 992, line 11 – p. 993, line 9; p. 1001, line 24 – p. 1005, line 1; and R. p. 1186, line 6 – p. 1191, line 17). Based upon her review of the medical literature applicable to heat illnesses, the recurrent nature of the Respondent’s problem, the light exertion level of conductor activities, and the moderate temperature and humidity on the days in question, she explained her conclusion that Respondent had unexplained recurrent rhabdomyolysis due to an underlying susceptibility to heat illness—but this testimony was not allowed to be heard by the jury due to the trial court’s rulings. (R. p. 35, line 6 – p. 43, line 23; and R. p. 809, line 9 – p. 813, line 24 ruling on: Lina 9/30/2008 Depo., P. 45, Line 2 - P. 49, Line 17 (R. pp. 1005, 1006, and 1036-1038). Nevertheless, Dr. Lina’s opinion that Respondent was not qualified to return to work (also not fully explained to the jury as a result of the trial court’s rulings) was provided in her August 2, 2007 correspondence to Respondent. (P. Ex 3, R. p. 1311). At trial, Appellant Norfolk Southern proffered Dr. Lina’s testimony that she was willing to reconsider her disqualification if additional medical evidence were presented by the Respondent, but this testimony was disallowed by the trial court as well.

(R. p. 819, line 17 – p. 821, line 2 ruling on: Lina 9/30/2008 Depo R. p. 1039, lines 16–25).

Respondent's liability expert on heat injuries, Douglas Casa, claimed over Appellant's objections (preserved from the first trial, Ct. Ex. 1, R. pp. 1994-2021) that Appellant's medical department had a duty prior to Respondent's Second Incident to not accept Dr. Dantzler's unrestricted work release issued before the Second Incident. (R. p. 433, , line 18 – p. 436, line 4; and p. 436, line 10 – p. 441, line 2). He testified that Appellant should have restricted Respondent to limited work hours and/or seen to it that he was "acclimatized" into the work setting despite Dr. Dantzler's clean return to work release, again *prior* to the Second Incident. (R. p. 433, line 18 – p. 436, line 4; and p. 436, line 10 – p. 441, line 2). On the other hand, Casa also opined in his deposition that heat chamber tests and other medical procedures could be undertaken to determine if Respondent could return to work as a conductor, but the trial court did not permit Appellant Norfolk Southern to present that testimony. (R. p. 807, Line 6 – p. 809, line 6 ruling on: Casa 2/5/2010 Depo., R. p. 1163, line 18 – p. 1164, line 13; and p. 1165, line 24 – p. 1167, line 1).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Trial Court Erred In Not Directing a Verdict on The Negligent Assignment Cause Of Action (Count II), As There Is No Duty Under the FELA Requiring A Railroad To Manage An Employee's Medical Treatment Or Rehabilitation, To Second Guess An Unrestricted Medical Clearance or To Accommodate Work Limitations Not Imposed by the Treating Physician.**
 - A. **The FELA requires proof of the traditional common law elements of a negligence case, including duty and breach, and Respondent failed to show a scintilla of evidence that Appellant had a duty to apply work restrictions when none were placed by Respondent's physician.**

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