THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals
No. 2012-212062

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2010-CP-40-5460

Trumaine V. Moorer,

Respondent

v.

Norfolk Southern Railway Company,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John E. Parker, Esquire
P.O. Box 457
Hampton, SC 29924
(803) 943-2111

John A. Moss, Esquire
15 Piedmont Center, Suite 1560
3575 Piedmont Road, NE
Atlanta, Georgia 30305
(404) 264-1292

Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED
JUL 16 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Under the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), the railroad has a non-delegable duty to provide its employees with a safe place to work. Rogers v. Norfolk Southern Corp., 356 S.C. 85, 92, 588 S.E.2d 87, 90 (2003). Moreover, railroad carriers are liable to their employees for injuries resulting, in whole or in part, from the employer's negligence. 45 U.S.C. § 51. Congress has mandated that courts must construe the FELA liberally in favor of injured railroad workers. Urie v. Thompson, 337 U.S. 163, 69 S.Ct. 1018, 93 L.Ed. 1282 (1949). However, under the FELA, plaintiffs must prove the traditional elements of negligence: duty, breach, foreseeability, and causation. Brown v. CSX Transp., Inc., 18 F.3d 245, 248 (4th Cir.1994).

I. Under the Federal Employers' Liability Act Norfolk Southern Had A Duty To Provide Sufficient Manpower And To Assign Respondent To Work For Which He Was Reasonably Suited Given His Known Weakened Condition.

The parties agree that the railroad is negligent if it requires its employee to perform work beyond his physical capacity when the railroad has actual or constructive notice that the employee has diminished work capacity. Fogg v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., 585 A.2d 786, 789 (D.C. 1991) (Appellant Br., pp. 11-12). Similarly, a railroad has a duty to not aggravate a known weakened physical condition by assigning the employee to work which it knows or reasonably should know would aggravate or cause injury to such employee because of the known weakened physical condition. Ybarra v. Burlington Northern Inc., 689 F.2d 147, n.3 (8th Cir.1982). A railroad has a duty to assign employees to work for which they are reasonably suited and breaches that duty if it assigns an employee to perform work beyond his capacity. Fletcher v. Union Pac. R. Co., 621 F.2d 902, 909 (8th Cir.1980). Finally, under the FELA, the railroad has a

continuing duty to provide adequate manpower and equipment. Kalanick v. Burlington Northern R. Co., 242 Mont. 45, 788 P.2d 901 (1990). Whether the assignment is negligent is a question of fact for the jury. Dunn v. Conemaugh & Black Lick R.R., 267 F.2d 571, 576 (3rd Cir.1959).

A. Respondent was in a known weakened condition when he returned to work after the first heat injury.

The parties agree that Appellant's employees knew that Respondent had a heat-related medical emergency at work on May 9, 2007. On that date, Moorer collapsed along the side of the tracks at Doane Pet Products, and EMS responded with emergent care and transported him to Orangeburg hospital where he spent three days recovering. (R. p. 167). The un rebutted evidence shows that this first heat event predisposed Respondent to a second heat injury, meaning that when he returned to work on May 30, 2007 Respondent was in a known weakened condition. The question for the jury was whether, given this knowledge, NSRC negligently assigned Respondent to work the same job, staffed the same way, but in hotter conditions than at the time of the first heat injury.

The jury had more than a scintilla of evidence on this point. First, Appellant staffed the job on May 30 and May 31 with a two-man crew – engineer and conductor only, even though Appellant had the ability and the management prerogative to assign an additional worker to the P28 to share the work with Respondent once he returned to work. (R. pp. 667, 698). In the years before this incident, Appellant staffed the P28 with a three-man crew, and it retained that ability at the time of the incident. (R. pp. 654-655; R. p. 1593). Furthermore, the P28 job was both physically and mentally demanding, especially for “rookie” employees on that job. (R. pp. 283, 285). According to the co-workers who knew the job and worked it regularly both before and after the incident as

part of a two-man crew, experience – which Respondent lacked – allowed a conductor to work efficiently and not “walk himself to death.” (R. pp. 473, 474-475).

Next, the medical and expert witnesses testified that a first heat injury predisposes a worker to a second heat injury. The primary care physician, Dr. Dantzler, testified that the first heat injury decreased Moorer’s heat tolerance and increased the likelihood of a second, more serious heat injury. (R. p. 505).

The railroad industrial hygiene expert¹⁴ James Shea was probably the best witness on this point. Based on his training and experience, a prior heat injury lowers the body’s ability to dissipate and tolerate heat and predisposes an individual to additional injury (R. p. 1100). A heat-injured worker is more susceptible to further injury due to heat exposure because he has a “somewhat lower or altered tolerance to be able to dissipate the heat in the body.” (R. p. 1101). The notion that a prior heat injury will predispose a person to additional injury has been generally accepted in the field of industrial hygiene “for some time.” (*Id.*). Tellingly, Appellant fails to even mention Shea’s testimony in its brief. It completely ignores his expert testimony that establishes beyond any doubt that Respondent was in a weakened condition when he returned to work after the first incident.

Finally, Professor Douglas Casa, a Ph.D. in exercise physiology at the University of Connecticut, explained that the second heat injury was 100% preventable if Appellant had properly managed Respondent’s return to work after the first injury, given his known weakened condition. (R. pp. 413-414). Exercise physiology is the study of the human

¹⁴ Appellant has an industrial hygienist on staff, but rather than use an in-house expert, it retained Shea. He admitted on cross-examination that *before the travel and testimony for the second trial*, Appellant had already paid him \$39,375. (R. pp. 1096, 1102).

body and how it relates, adapts, changes during the act of exercise or labor in any kind of physical work. (R. p. 380). In addition to his responsibilities teaching, Dr. Casa frequently works on site managing heat injuries at extreme races like the Boston Marathon, New York City Marathon, and Marine Corps Marathon in Washington, D.C. (Id. at 381). Over the last 17 years, he has managed and treated more than 125 heat strokes “with zero deaths.” (Id.). He works regularly with high schools, colleges, professional teams, and the US Military to develop policies related to heat and hydration. (Id.). He has published on fluid replacement as the lead author for the National Athletic Trainers Association; he co-authored a position statement on exertional heat illness; he chaired the Inter-Association Task Force of 18 organizations including the NIH Centers for Disease Control to develop a policy statement on exertional heat illnesses; he co-authored the position statement of the American College of Sports Medicine on exertional heat illness; and in 2009 with Dr. Fran O’Connor, he co-chaired the US Military’s efforts to revamp the U.S. Army’s guidelines for return to duty for soldiers following exertional heat stroke.¹⁵ (Id.)

Applying his extensive education and training to the facts of this case, Dr. Casa opined that Appellant should have managed Respondent’s return to work after the first heat injury. Specifically, Respondent needed to undergo a supervised heat acclimatization process before returning to full duty under the same or similar work conditions because Respondent lost “a great percentage” of his fitness level and “completely lose [his] heat acclimatization.” (R. pp. 399-404, 405) He faulted Appellant for failing to follow a two-step process to return Respondent to work: evaluation

¹⁵ The surgeon general of the U.S. Army approved the new guidelines on June 22, 2009.

followed by heat acclimatization. (R. pp. 410-411). Specifically, Appellant failed to return Respondent to work in a gradual manner and failed to determine whether he was capable of handling the work before allowing him to return.¹⁶ (R. p. 407).

Appellant makes a weak attempt to discount Dr. Casa's testimony. Without question he is one of the leading heat exposure experts in the country, with a special focus on designing and implementing return-to-work and return-to-duty strategies for those who suffer a serious heat injury, then attempt to return to work. The strategies that he developed for the US Military and which the US Army adopted apply equally to workers like Respondent in a civilian setting. The trial court heard argument on this point and edited the deposition testimony to conform to Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 398 S.C. 434, 688 S.E.2d 169 (2010). (R. pp. 369-370).¹⁷

Appellant's logic fails in arguing against the trial court allowing Dr. Casa to apply his peer-reviewed and accepted return-to-work strategies to the railroad environment. According to him, in every case, one must consider the cause of the condition in the first place, the extent to which the employee has recovered, and the fitness deficit created after the first injury. (R. p. 404). In this case, Appellant "made a mistake [because] they made no effort to get [Respondent] back to duty in a gradual manner. They had no idea or way

¹⁶ The Norfolk Southern Fee for Service Provider Manual specifically allows for the type of supervised work evaluation suggested by Dr. Casa. It mandates field-testing process where the injured employee interacts with a professional who can evaluate the employee's fitness for duty and devise an appropriate acclimatization strategy. (R. p. 409).

¹⁷The trial court looked carefully at the testimony and distinguished Dr. Casa from the expert in Watson, who testified out of his area of expertise. "Dr. Casa does have experience and expertise with heat illness and acclimatization in a particular setting." (R. p. 374). The qualification of a witness as an expert is within the trial court's discretion and will be reversed absent abuse of discretion. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C 545, 555, 658 S.E.2d 80, 85 (2008).

of knowing if he could handle the activity when he went back.” (R. p. 407). After receiving the preliminary advice from Dr. Dantzer, it was ultimately the responsibility of the Appellant to decide if Respondent was medically qualified to work or not. (R. p. 408). Clearly, Dr. Casa published and implemented return to work strategies in the most extreme work settings (combat soldiers and elite athletes), then applied those strategies to this case to reach his opinions. Appellant fails to suggest why a strategy designed to return the soldiers to work and elite athletes to play under the most extreme conditions does not apply equally to a slightly less demanding work environment.

Somehow, Appellant fails to even mention that its own Fee For Service Provider Manual mandates that the railroad use the exact strategies suggested by Dr. Casa. It fails to mention that it had the ability and the duty to evaluate Respondent’s physical status, his conditioning, and his ability to work. It also fails to tell the Court that its own expert Shea agreed with the same strategies discussed by Dr. Casa.

Q: Acclimatization is an important consideration for people who are determining whether or not somebody is susceptible to a heat injury. That’s all I’m really asking, Mr. Shea.

A: It is important in certain circumstances, yes, of course.

(R. p. 1107)

Q: Existing medical conditions – that is an important consideration, susceptibility factor in figuring out whether somebody is predisposed to a heat stroke, or heat injury, right?

A: Absolutely.

(R. p. 1108).

Q: We have to look at Trumaine's situation in the context of Trumaine and his medical condition in looking at the job, don't we? Don't we?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 1108).

Finally, Appellant fails to tell this Court that the front line supervisor who was responsible for helping Respondent's attempt to return-to-work after the first heat injury had no training or experience in that area. Will DeShazor testified:

Q: Have you had any training of any kind whatsoever from Norfolk Southern on how to properly manage and counsel someone after they have had a heat injury?

A: The training is from the rule book, but no, not classroom or anything like that. No, I have not spoken to someone about that. I am just privy to that information.

Q: Well, do you know anything at all about how to properly manage and counsel somebody who is coming back from a heat injury?

A: Like I said, aside from the normal practices of hydration and work rest periods, no, sir.

Q: Because I have asked you that exact same question before, and your answer was, no, sir then; correct?

A: Right. Nothing specific as far as, you know, post – right.

(R. p. 723).

Applying the negligence principles outlined in Fogg v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., 585 A.2d 786 (D.C. 1991), the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury and denied the motion for JNOV. In Fogg, the plaintiff was a customer relations specialist who returned to work following back surgery. The Defendant knew that she

faced challenges upon her return to work and that her unmodified job could be beyond her physical abilities. The railroad, just like Appellant in this case, argued that it had no duty to provide accommodated work and that the trial court erred when it charged the jury on the railroad's duty with respect to the health and safety of its employees.¹⁸ In affirming the verdict for the Plaintiff, the Court of Appeals for the DC Circuit agreed that there was no duty to provide part-time work but explained that railroad officials could not simply ignore Plaintiff's physical condition. Allowing Plaintiff to work at an unmodified job despite actual or constructive knowledge that she had diminished work capacity could aggravate previous injuries, was sufficient to sustain the verdict. Id. at 789-790.

In this case, the facts are analogous, but even more compelling. In this case, Appellant did have the ability to modify the job within the terms of the union contract by adding a brakeman to the job, especially when the weather was significantly hotter than when the first event occurred. Even more fundamentally, Appellant knew or should have known that Respondent had a diminished ability to cope with and safely handle strenuous work in light of his diminished work capacity according to every expert witness in the case. Appellant was monitoring his medical condition by collecting records, and it had the records from the first hospitalization in Orangeburg starting on May 9, 2007. It also had the ability to call and speak to Respondent's physician, as evidenced by the fact that Dr. Lina called Dr. Dantzer's office after the second injury. Also, Appellant had the ability to evaluate Respondent's work capacity in its field-testing procedures, yet it chose

¹⁸ The charge stated: "A railroad company breaches that duty if it negligently requires its employees to perform work beyond her physical capacity, that is if the Defendant knew or should have known of the Plaintiff's diminished work capacity and in spite of that knowledge Defendant unreasonably continued to assign Plaintiff to tasks that Defendant knew or should reasonably have known would aggravate her physical condition." Fogg, 585 A.2d. at 789.

to skip that critical step. Just like Fogg, Appellant could not simply ignore the longstanding and accepted principle that one who suffers a heat injury is susceptible to another injury and assign him to work the same unmodified job under hotter conditions and thereby expose him to an unreasonable risk of harm, given his known weakened condition.¹⁹ The trial court properly applied the law to the facts of the case, and the verdict must be affirmed.

B. Dr. Dantzler imposed permanent work restrictions after the first heat incident, and the trial court did not impose a duty on Appellant to second-guess his opinions.

The allegations at trial were that given the totality of the circumstances, the railroad negligently assigned Moorer to work the P28 in late May, 2007. Respondent introduced into evidence many factors to support this allegation. These factors included (1.) the temperature and humidity on May 31, 2007, especially when compared to the cooler temperatures surrounding the first incident; (2.) the demands of the P28 job for inexperienced employees like Respondent; (3.) the railroad's admitted ability to staff the job with three men; (4.) the railroad's field-testing process to evaluate whether Respondent was physically ready to work and heat properly heat acclimatized; (5.) Respondent's physical condition and predisposition to sustain another heat injury given the totality of the working conditions; (6.) and, the work restrictions from Dr. Dantzler, the primary care physician.

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